71461-9

No. 71461-9

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# **B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- The hearing judge failed to state as a Conclusion of Law that when the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) is not applicable, the applicable statute of limitations is triggered by an agency's last denial of records without the adequate "brief explanation of how [an] exemption applies to the record[s] withheld" required by RCW 42.56.210(3).
- In determining when the applicable statute of limitations began to run, the hearing judge failed to consider the two purported privilege logs provided to me in the form of emails on August 5, 2010, by Greg Baxter, the WSCJTC's Public Records Officer.
- 3. The hearing judge erroneously ruled as a Conclusion of Law that the applicable statute of limitations for a Public Records Act lawsuit in this situation was the one-year period in RCW 42.56.550(6).
- 4. Because the hearing judge erroneously ruled as a Conclusion of Law that I did not commence my lawsuit until after the applicable statute of limitations had expired, the hearing judge also erroneously ruled as a Conclusion of Law that my lawsuit must be dismissed under CR 12(b)(6).

## **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. When the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) is not applicable, is the statute of limitations triggered by an agency's last denial of records without the adequate "brief explanation of how [an] exemption applies to the record[s] withheld" required by RCW 42.56.210(3)?
- 2. Were the two emails purporting to be privilege logs that the WSCJTC's Public Records Officer, Greg Baxter, provided to me on August 5, 2010, adequate responses under the Public Records Act sufficient to trigger the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.546.550(6)?
- 3. What is the applicable statute of limitations in this situation?
- 4. Did I commence my lawsuit within the applicable statute of limitations?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Factual Background: WSCJTC's Stonewalling

#### a. Brief description of the WSCJTC

The defendant, Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission (WSCJTC), certifies all full-time peace offices in the state of Washington – sheriff's deputies, police officers, and state troopers. RCW 43.101.085(6). Law enforcement agencies such as the King County Sheriff's Office are required to notify WSCJC when a deputy is fired for misconduct. RCW 43.101.135. The WSCJTC may investigate alleged misconduct by reviewing a law enforcement agency's internal affairs investigation, which the agency is required to produce upon WSCJTC's request. RCW 45.101.135. The files which WSCJTC "compiles" during its investigations of alleged misconduct are exempt from public disclosure, RCW 43.101.400(1), and therefore, I presume, any file the WSCJTC receives from a law enforcement agency would be added (or "compiled") into the WSCJTC's own investigative files.

#### b. My first records request to WSCJTC on October 27, 2009

On October 27, 2009 I made my first public records request to Defendant WSCJTC's then Public Records Officer Leanna Bidinger under RCW 42.56 *et seq.* by email, asking WSCJTC for, among other things,

"any and all documents, transcripts, emails, handwritten

notes, recordings or images which the CJTC has that are related to the 11/29/08 incident in King County where two King County Sheriff's Deputies, Deputy Paul Schene and Deputy Travis Brunner assaulted a 15-year-old girl, Malika Calhoun, in a holding cell in SeaTac." CP 70

# c. WSCJTC's first (outlandish) response on November 18, 2009: Its first purported privilege log

On November 18, 2009 Ms. Bidinger responded by email. (CP 72) Her email contained two attachments. One attachment (CP 74) was a letter stating that Ms. Bidinger had sent me two discs, each containing one record.

The second attachment (CP 77) was a one-page <u>purported</u> privilege log in chart form, containing only two lines. And one of these two lines purported to identify <u>one record that was 713 pages long</u>.

This supposed 713-page record almost certainly consists actually of many records produced during the KCSO's IIU investigation of Deputy Paul Schene and Deputy Travis Brunner which KCSO had sent to WSCJTC after KCSO completed its IIU investigation and Sheriff Sue Rahr had fired Deputy Schene. (CP 106)

# d. My first protest to WSCJTC on November 30, 2009

On November 30, 2009 I emailed Ms. Bidinger (CP 79) protesting that the privilege log did not meet the requirements for privilege logs stated in Rental Housing Association of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wash.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009).

Ms. Bidinger never replied to my protest.

.

#### e. My second protests and Greg Baxter's August 5, 2010 denial

On March 22, 2010 Greg Baxter replaced Ms. Bidinger as WSCJTC's Public Records Officer, a fact which I learned on August 4, 2010. (CP 82)

On August 3, 2010 I sent to Ms. Bidinger, and on August 4, 2010 I sent to Mr. Baxter, emails complaining about WSCJTC's claim that all the King County Sheriff's records which the Sheriff's Office had sent to them relating to Deputy Paul Shene's termination constituted only one 713-page record. (CP 87-91) On August 5, 2010 Mr. Baxter refused to acknowledge the truth of my protest and continued to claim that the 713pages constituted only one record. (CP 87-91)

Greg Baxter's email reply on August 5, 2010 claiming that the oneline entry for one record of 713 pages on the purported privilege log was adequate (CP 87) was his most recent defense of the purported privilege log. It fails to acknowledge the existence of individual records that are responsive to my first public records request on October 27, 2009 to Leanna Bidinger. and it is equivalent to a silent withholding of requested public records.

# f. My second, and different, records requests of August 3, 2010, relating to Deputy Schene and Deputy Brunner

On August 3, 2010, not knowing that Ms. Bidinger had been replaced

by Greg Baxter as WSCJTC's Public Records Officer (See Argument 2.e

above), I made a public records request via email to Ms. Bidinger

requesting all documents related to Deputy Paul Schene that contained

"the handwriting, handwritten initials, hand printing, or signatures of King County Sheriff's Deputy Paul Schene which the CJTC has that are related to the 11/29/08 incident..."

and I made an identical request to Ms. Bidinger for all documents

handwritten by Deputy Travis Brunner. (CP 93, CP 95)

On August 5, 2010, I made the same two requests via email to Greg

Baxter, the WSCJTC's new Public Records Officer. (CP 97-99)

# g. Greg Baxter's August 5, 2010 denials of my second records request, and his two purported email privilege logs

Later the same day, August 5, 2010, Greg Baxter replied to me via email (CP 101-2) that as to <u>Schene-related records</u> the email was serving as a privilege log for a 713-page investigative file prepared by the King County Sheriff's Office and that "RCW 43.100.400 specifically exempts from public disclosure the entirety of such WSCJTC files." he had <u>no</u> Deputy Schene-related handwritten or handprinted records that I had requested. (CP 101-2) Also on the same day, August 4, 2010, Greg Baxter replied to me via email (CP 104) that as to <u>Brunner-related records</u> the email was serving as a privilege log for a 713-page investigative file prepared by the King County Sheriff's Office and that "RCW 43.100.400 specifically exempts from public disclosure the entirety of such WSCJTC files."

#### 2. Procedural History

## a. WSCJTC's two preposterous emails of August 5, 2010

On August 5, 2010, Greg Baxter, the Public Records Officer for WSCJTC, sent me the two short emails referred to above, each of which claimed to be a privilege log for a 713-page IIU file [which by implication comprised only one record]. (CP 102-4)

#### b. My original Complaint filed July 30, 2013

I filed my original Complaint against WSCJTC in Snohomish County Superior Court on July 30, 2013, five days before the expiration of the three-year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080(6) relating to lawsuits for statutory penalties. (CP 116)

## c. My First Amended Complaint filed October 24, 2013

c. I filed my First Amended Complaint on October 24, 2013 (CP 56) and served it on WSCJTC on the same day.

#### d. WSCJTC's Motion to Dismiss filed November 7, 2013

WSCJTC filed its CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss on November 7, 2013. (CP 42)

#### e. Superior Court hearing on December 12, 2013

The CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss was heard in Snohomish County Superior Court on December 12, 2013 by the Honorable Marybeth Dingledy. (CP 9)

# f. Original Order, Corrected Order, and Notice of Appeal

Superior Court Judge Dingeldy filed her initial order of dismissal with prejudice later on the same day as the hearing, December 12, 2013. (CP 5)

Because of some minor errors in the order, WSCJTC's attorney, John Hillman made a few corrections at my request and resubmitted the order for Judge Dingledy's signature. (CP 1)

On January 2, 2014, Judge Dingledy filed the corrected order. (CP 1)

On January 30, 2014, I filed a Notice of Appeal in Snohomish

County Superior Court and in Division One of the Court of Appeals.

#### **D. ARGUMENTS**

1. When the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) is not applicable, the statute of limitations is triggered by an agency's last denial of records without the adequate "brief explanation of how [an] exemption applies to the record[s] withheld" required by RCW 42.56.210(3).

<u>Standard of Review</u>: This is a question of law, and an appellate court reviews questions of law and conclusions of law de novo. <u>Veach v. Culp</u>, 92 Wash.2d 570, 573, 599 P.2d 526 (1979).

Where an agency <u>never</u> provides an adequate privilege log (as a satisfactory "brief explanation of how an exemption applies to records it withhheld"), the date that starts the statute of limitations running is the date of the agency's last denial. In Johnson v. Department of Corrections, 164 Wash.App. 769, 265 P.3d 216 (2011), a Public Records Act case cited by the Attorney General on Page 8 of his Memorandum in Support (CP 50) (but for a different proposition), the plaintiff inmate argued for a two-year statute of limitations under the "catch-all" statute RCW 4.16.130, while the defendant Department of Corrections urged the court to use the one-year statute in the Act, RCW 42.56.550(6). The Court of Appeals, Division Two, refrained from deciding which of the two statutes applied, because the court found that "even under the more lenient two-year statute, the plaintiff's action was time-barred." Johnson, supra, 265 P.3d at 220. The court did not discuss the possibility of the three-year statute in

RCW 4.16.080(6). However, the Johnson court used as the trigger to start the statute running the date of the defendant agency's last reply which was a written denial to the requester that the records existed. In addition, this denial by the agency was in response to an initial records request that the requester had repeated - similar to what I did. (That is, I made an initial request, and I later made a second, but different, records request.) (CP 93,

CP 96-9)

.

2. WSCJTC's two short emails of August 5, 2010 denying my second request were WSCJTC's last denial of a requested record, and the emails were not valid privilege logs sufficient to trigger the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6).

<u>Standard of Review</u>: This is a question of law, and an appellate court reviews questions of law and conclusions of law de novo. <u>Veach v. Culp</u>, 92 Wash.2d 570, 573, 599 P.2d 526 (1979).

# a. The two short emails were not sufficient to trigger the <u>first</u> prong of the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6)

The one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) has two

prongs, either of which can trigger the one-year period:

"(6) Actions under this section must be filed within one year of the agency's claim of exemption or the last production of a record on a partial or installment basis." RCW 42.546.550(6)

The first prong is "the agency's claim of exemption", and the

second prong is the agency's "last production of a record on a partial or

installment basis."

The "claim of exemption" required by the <u>first prong</u> echoes the additional requirement on agencies stated in RCW 42.56.210(3):

"(3) Agency responses refusing, in whole or in part, inspection of any public record shall include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." RCW 42.56.210(3)

WSCJTC did <u>not</u> trigger the <u>first prong</u>, because WSCJTC's two emails did not provide a "claim of exemption" for <u>each record</u> as required by RCW 42.56.210(3).

Neither of WSCJTC's two emails to me on August 5, 2010 described the <u>individual records</u> for which WSCJTC claimed an exemption. When an agency denies a request for production it must provide the requester with two things: (1) a written statement, pursuant to RCW 42.56.520, and (2) a statement of the claimed exemption and a brief explanation of how the claimed exemption applies to <u>each record</u>. That is, the agency must <u>identify</u> each record. WSCJTC did not do that. Instead, WSCJTC's two emails <u>claimed that 713 pages in a file constituted one</u> <u>record</u>, in order to avoid describing each record – most likely either out of a desire for secrecy or to avoid the tedious work of describing the records. (CP 101-4)

# (1) The inadequacy of WSCJTC's purported privilege logs under <u>Rental Housing Association</u>

Greg Baxter's claim that WSCJTC's two emails constituted privilege logs is preposterous. RCW 42.56.210(3) refers to "brief explanations of how the exemption applies to the record withheld". Rental Housing Association of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wash. 2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), clarified that an adequate privilege log is one way of making a sufficient "brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld". Rental Housing Association's requirement of a privilege log that itemized each record was in support of the statutory requirement in RCW 42.56.210(3) for a "brief explanation" of claimed exemptions for each record. That WSCJTC put its "brief explanation" for withholding records into the form of short emails and called them privilege logs (CP 101-4) to satisfy the requirement of Rental Housing Association, was obviously Greg Baxter's attempt to evade complying with the statutory requirement to provide a "brief explanation" for each record in the IIU file while at the same time triggering the one-year statute of limitations. Such open scorn for citizen access to government records violates the policy behind the Public Records Act, and this Court should not allow it, because allowing it would defeat the rationale behind Rental Housing Association itself, which is to

insure that all relevant records or portions of records be identified with particularity. <u>Rental Housing Association</u>, <u>supra</u>, 165 Wash.2d at 538, 199 P.3d at 399.

Note also that just as I alleged that I <u>repeated</u> my request to WSCJTC for an adequate privilege log (CP 93, CP 97-9), <u>so did the</u> (<u>eventually</u>) <u>victorious plaintiff</u> in <u>Rental Housing Association</u>, <u>supra</u>, 165 Wash.2d at 529, 199 P.3d at 395. And note further that the reason the Washington Supreme Court in <u>Rental Housing Association</u> appeared to accept, finally, a document which the defendant agency had labeled "privilege log" as a "brief explanation..." was not because it was <u>labeled</u> a "privilege log" but because it described (disclosed <u>the existence</u> of) individual records with the required particularity.

One might try to argue that WSCJTC's claim was so obviously preposterous that I was on notice to sue with the statute of limitations. However, this was precisely the same situation in <u>Rental Housing</u> <u>Association</u>, namely, an agency's <u>obvious</u> lack of adequate "brief explanation ......" for each record, and the Washington Supreme Court still held that the one-year statute of limitations was <u>not</u> triggered until the agency provided a privilege log with sufficient brief explanations for the individual records. In order for WSCJTC to do this, it must group the 713 pages into records. (Presumably the King County Sheriff's Office had sent

the 713 pages to WSCJTC already grouped into records, and possibly also each record was stapled and therefore easy to identify.)

#### (2) The correct definition of "disclosure" under Sanders v. State

Sanders v. State, 169 Wash.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010), explicitly makes a distinction between disclosure and production. Most of the PRA cases I have read actually use "disclosure" to mean "production", but <u>Sanders</u> clarifies the correct usage of the two words. Individual records can be exempt from <u>production</u> but never from <u>disclosure of their</u> <u>existence</u>. Disclosing their existence requires describing them individually, and in order to do this, WSCJTC must group the 713 pages into records. Almost certainly the King County Sheriff's Office, when it sent the 713 pages of records to WSCJTC, had already done this for WSCJTC.

- "1. Records are either "disclosed" or "not disclosed." A record is disclosed if its existence is revealed to the requester in response to a PRA request, regardless of whether it is produced.
- 2. Disclosed records are either "produced" (made available for inspection and copying) or "withheld" (not produced). A document [note the use as a synonym for "record"] may be lawfully withheld if it is "exempt" under one of the PRA's enumerated exemptions> A document not covered by one of the exemptions is, by contrast, "nonexempt." Withholding a nonexempt document is "wrongful withholding" and violates the PRA. [Citation omitted]

 A document is never exempt from disclosure. It can be exempt only from production. An agency withholding a document must claim a "specific exemption," i.e., which exemption covers the document. RCW 42.56.210(3). [Footnote omitted] The claimed exemption is "invalid" if it does not in fact cover the document." <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 169 Wash.2d. 827, 240 P.3d 120, 125 (2010)

Sanders quotes the trial court's correct ruling that the PRA

"require[s] an agency claiming an exemption to 'include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld ' CP at 1717 (quoting RCW 42.56.210(3) [footnote omitted] [emphasis added" <u>Sanders v.</u> <u>State, supra</u>, 169 Wash.2d. 827, 240 P.3d at 130

WSCJTC's purported email privileges logs never showed, nor

could they show, how (or whether) their claimed exemption applied to

each of the (presumably) variable-length records in the file that contained

713 pages of records. This is important, because some of the records

actually might not be exempt even though they were in a file sent to

WSCJTC by the King County Sheriff's Office.

# (3) No silent withholding: <u>Rental Housing Association</u> and <u>PAWS II</u>

Rental Housing Association, supra, cited Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. University of Washington, 125 Wash.2d 243, 884 P.2d

592 (1994) (PAWS II) for an evil they called "silent withholding", and

that is precisely what WSCJTC is doing here. "Silent" means not

disclosing the existence of the individual records for which an exemption

is claimed, or simply withholding records without acknowledging the withholding at. And here, WSCJTC <u>is</u> withholding 713 pages of records because it is not <u>producing</u> them, and this non-production is <u>silent</u> since WSCJTC has not disclosed <u>which</u> particular records are contained in the 713 pages. <u>Rental Housing Association</u> forbade this tactic of the defendant City of Des Moines when it quoted long stretches of text from <u>PAWS II</u> on silent withholding. <u>Rental Housing Association</u>, <u>supra</u>, 165 Wash.2d at 539, 199 P.3d at 399.

# (4) WSCJTC's claim of the "other statute" exception in RCW 42.56.070(1) is disallowed by <u>PAWS II</u> because it conflicts with the public Records ACT.

The Attorney General at the top of Page 6 of his Memorandum In Support (CP 48) claimed that RCW 43.101 400 qualifies as an "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records", citing RCW 42.56.070(1) as support, and the Attorney General claims that "[I]nvestigative records held by CJTC are specifically and statutorily exempt from public disclosure." The Attorney General might seem to have claimed in footnote 5 on Page 3 of his Memorandum in Support (CP 45) that the <u>entire</u> IIU file is exempt from disclosure and that therefore WSCJTC need not group the 713 pages into records and described them with the required privilege log information for individual records, each record having a variable number of pages. Actually, the Attorney General did make this claim explicitly on Pages 9-10 of his Memorandum in Support (CP 51-2).

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