NO. 71461-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN F. KLINKERT,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE CRIMINAL JUSTICE TRAINING COMMISSION,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOHN C. HILLMAN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #25071 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430 OID #91093

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

The identification of the remaining 713 pages satisfied the identification requirements of RCW 42.56.210(3) and *PAWS II*. CJTC specifically identified the withheld record as the "King County Sheriff's Office Investigative File on Deputy Schene." CP 77. CJTC further described it as "an investigative file transmitted to CJTC pertaining to the termination of Paul Schene." CP 77. The exemption log identified the title of the document, the date on the document, the author of the document, who at CJTC received the document, the type of document, and the length of the document. CP 77. The identification of the withheld records was entirely sufficient.

The exemption privilege log sufficiently offered a "brief explanation" as to why the identified record was exempt from public disclosure pursuant to the statutory citation:

these are records that may be used by the WSCJTC in an investigation of [Deputy Schene's] certification. These documents cannot be disclosed under RCW 43.101.400(1).

CP 77. Unlike the vague explanations that amounted to silent withholding in *Rental Housing Ass'n*, the brief explanation CJTC gave Klinkert was enough information for Klinkert to make a threshold determination as to

whether a valid claim of exemption had been made. There was no "silent withholding" in this case.

Klinkert also argues that the exemption log was insufficient because it did not describe each individual page of the 713-page investigative file. This argument first ignores the fact that a single document or record can exceed 713 pages. Klinkert cites no authority requiring a public agency to describe each page of a multi-page record when the record is withheld in its entirety.

Klinkert further ignores the plain language of RCW 43.101.400(1). The section itself is entitled, "Confidentiality of Records." The relevant provision provides:

. . . the following records of the commission are confidential and exempt from public disclosure: (a) The contents of personnel action reports filed under RCW 43.101.135; (b) all files, papers, and other information obtained by the commission pursuant to RCW 43.101.095(3); and (c) all investigative files of the commission compiled in carrying out the responsibilities of the commission under this chapter. Such records are not subject to public disclosure, subpoena, or discovery proceedings in any civil action . . .

(emphasis added). The Legislature's use of the word "confidential" and the phrase "investigative files" was an expression of its intent to exclude the *entirety* of an investigative file compiled during an internal affairs investigation, regardless of the number of documents within the file. The Legislature understood that an internal affairs investigation of police misconduct is likely memorialized in multiple documents by multiple authors, but there is only one "investigation" that is stored in the file.

Had CJTC described each page of the 713-page record, it would also undermine the "confidentiality" of the records. The Legislature not only mandated that these records are exempt from public disclosure, they are also supposed to be kept "confidential." RCW 43.101.400(1). The Legislature's purpose in keeping these records confidential would be defeated if CJTC were required to describe the records in the elaborate detail argued by Klinkert.

RCW 43.101.400(1) does not "conflict" with the PRA simply because it allows CJTC to withhold an entire file. See Brief of Appellant at 28-29. The PRA allows an agency to withhold records pursuant to an "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.070(1). RCW 43.101.400(1) is an "other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." The statute requires CJTC to withhold the entirety of investigative files submitted by law enforcement agencies that have terminated an officer for misconduct. RCW 43.101.400(1). The

¹ "Each agency, in accordance with published rules, shall make available for public inspection and copying all public records, unless the record falls within the specific exemptions of subsection (6) of this section, this chapter, or other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records. . . ."

statute does not conflict with the PRA's general requirement that an agency identify the individual records it withholds because the statute allows CJTC to identify an "investigative file" received from the terminating police agency as one record, an identification that allows the requestor to decide whether a valid claim of exemption was asserted.

Here, CJTC identified the record with enough specificity to allow Klinkert to know what record was withheld ("King County Sheriff's Office Investigative File on Deputy Schene 713 pages"). This identification, in conjunction with the claim of exemption that was applied and a brief explanation as to why the exemption applied, allowed Klinkert to assess whether a proper claim of exemption was made. There is no "conflict" between the PRA and Chapter 43.101 that would invalidate RCW 43.101.400(1) and thereby invalidate the sufficiency of the exemption log provided by CJTC.

Finally, Klinkert argues that the "triggering" event was not the response from CJTC on November 18, 2009, but rather the response from CJTC on August 5, 2010 following Klinkert's "re-request" for an adequate privilege log. CJTC's August 5 response to Klinkert was simply a reiteration of what was explained to Klinkert in 2009. CP 87-88. It did not constitute a "new" event that triggered a new time limit.

C. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed The Case Because The Statute Of Limitations Expired Prior To The Filing Of The Lawsuit

Klinkert filed his lawsuit well after the statute of limitations expired, regardless of whether the applicable statute of limitation was the one-year time limit imposed by the PRA, the two-year "catch-all" time limit in RCW 4.16.130, or the three-year time limit in RCW 4.16.080(6). Each of these time limits expired before Klinkert filed his PRA lawsuit on July 24, 2013, almost four years after the statute of limitations was triggered on November 18, 2009.

1. Klinkert's lawsuit was appropriately dismissed as untimely pursuant to the one-year statute of limitations set forth in the PRA.

A PRA action "must be filed within one year of the agency's claim of exemption or the last production of a record on a partial or installment basis." RCW 42.56.550(6). The PRA's one-year statute of limitations is "clearly triggered" by either of these events. *Greenhalgh v. Dep't of Correction*, 170 Wn. App. 137, 147, 282 P.3d 1175 (2012).

Klinkert's lawsuit was brought pursuant to the PRA. CP 53 ("This is an action to enforce the Public Records Act . . . RCW 42.56 et seq."). Klinkert was advised on November 18, 2009 that CJTC withheld the records at issue and claimed exemptions. CP 71-77 (Exhibits 3-5). Klinkert had one year from November 18, 2009, to file a lawsuit

challenging the claimed exemptions. RCW 42.56.550(6). He did not and his 2013 lawsuit was properly dismissed.

2. Klinkert's lawsuit was untimely even under the "catchall" two-year statute of limitations set forth in RCW 4.16.130.

If a statute such as the PRA does not set a statute of limitations, the statute of limitations is two years from the date that an action accrues. RCW 4.16.130 ("An action for relief not hereinbefore provided for, shall be commenced within two years after the cause of action shall have accrued"). Klinkert argues that the one-year limit in the PRA did not apply to him. If he were correct, RCW 4.16.130 would arguably apply.

However, the plain language of RCW 4.16.130 provides that it applies only to actions where a limitation of action is "not hereinfore provided for," i.e., cases where there is no statute of limitations in the chapter of the RCW that creates the cause of action. Klinkert's lawsuit was a PRA action (Chapter 42.56 RCW)) based on withheld records and a claim of exemption. A statute of limitations for challenges to a claim of exemption is specifically "provided for" in the PRA. RCW 42.56.550(6). Accordingly, RCW 4.16.130 does not apply to PRA actions challenging a claim of exemption.

Furthermore, the PRA's one-year time limit controls if using another statute of limitations would result in an absurd consequence.

Dep't of Corrections v. Bartz, 173 Wn. App. 522, 297 P.3d 737 (2013). In Bartz, the agency produced the requested record. Bartz sued after one year, but less than two. Bartz argued that the PRA's statute of limitations did not apply because the PRA's time limit only applied to cases involving an agency's "last production of a record on a partial or installment basis." Bartz, 173 Wn. App. at 535. Bartz argued that because the agency made only one production, the production was not "on a partial or installment basis" and therefore the one-year time limit in the PRA did not apply to him. Id. Bartz argued that he was entitled to the two-year "catch-all" statute. The court rejected Bartz's argument, noting that it would be "absurd to conclude that the legislature intended to create a more lenient statute of limitations for one category of PRA requests in light of its 2005 deliberate and significant shortening of the time for filing a claim from five years, under the old Public Disclosure Act, to one year, under the [current] PRA." Bartz, 173 Wn. App. at 537.

In Klinkert's case, it would be absurd to create a more lenient statute of limitations to challenge an agency's claim of exemption where the PRA explicitly provides for a statute of limitations for *all* actions challenging a claim of exemption. RCW 42.56.550(6). There is no reason for a "second" limitation of time to file the same cause of action.

Klinkert cites *Tobin* and *Johnson*, but neither case assists his argument. In *Tobin*, the court held that production of a single document did not trigger the one-year statute of limitation in the PRA because a single production of a record is not production of a record "on a partial or installment basis" as described in RCW 42.56.550(6). *Tobin v. Worden*, 156 Wn. App. 507, 514, 233 P.3d 906 (2010). The *Tobin* court rejected the argument that RCW 42.56.550(6) was also intended to encompass an agency's one-time production of records. *Id. Tobin* did not address what statute of limitation, if any, applied to a single production of records.

Similarly, in *Johnson* the agency responded to the public records request and produced its only responsive document. *Johnson v. Dep't of Corrections*, 164 Wn. App. 769, 264 P.3d 216 (2011). Johnson filed a PRA lawsuit more than two years later. *Id.* at 774. Johnson's PRA lawsuit was dismissed as time-barred. *Id.* Like *Tobin*, Johnson appealed on grounds that the PRA statute of limitations was never triggered because the agency did not claim an exemption or produce records on a "partial or installment basis," the only two "triggers" specifically identified in RCW 42.56.550(6). *Johnson*, 164 Wn. App. at 776. The court did not reach the merits of the issue because the suit was untimely using either the one-year or two-year statute of limitations. *Id.* at 778.

Johnson and Tobin are inapposite because there is no dispute here that CJTC did claim an exemption, a fact not present in Johnson or Tobin. The plain language of RCW 42.56.550(6) clearly provides that a claim of exemption triggers the one-year time limit. CJTC's claim of exemption on November 18, 2009, specifically triggered the one-year statute of limitation

Like *Johnson*, even if the two-year "catch-all" statute of limitations applied to this case, Klinkert's lawsuit was still untimely because a two-year time limit expired on November 18, 2011, two years after CJTC claimed an exemption to the requested records on November 18, 2009. Even using August 5, 2010 as the trigger date as Klinkert argues, the time limit expired on August 5, 2012. The lawsuit was properly dismissed as untimely even under RCW 4.16.130.

3. The three-year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080(6) does not apply because the PRA provides for a different limitation on actions.

Klinkert argues his lawsuit was timely because the three-year statute of limitations set forth in RCW 4.16.080(6) applied to his case and the triggering event for the three-year statute of limitations occurred on August 5, 2010, when he repeated his complaint that the exemption log provided in November 2009 was "inadequate" and he made a separate records request. This argument fails.

First, RCW 4.16.080(6) specifically provides that it does not apply to claims for penalties pursuant to a statute that "provides a different limitation." The penalties that Klinkert seeks are pursuant to a statute—the PRA--that specifically provides for a "different limitation" of one year. RCW 42.56.550(6). The plain language of RCW 4.16.080(6) removes a PRA lawsuit from the three-year statute of limitations.

Second, for the same reason that it would be an absurd result to apply the two-year limitation in RCW 4.16.130 to a PRA action, it would be equally absurd to apply RCW 4.16.080(6). *See Bartz*, 173 Wn. App. at 536-38. The PRA specifically provides a one-year limitation for actions that challenge a claim of exemption under the PRA. RCW 42.56.550(6). It makes no sense to have different statutes of limitations for PRA lawsuits challenging a claim of exemption. *Id*.

Finally, even if the three-year statute of limitations applied, the triggering event occurred on November 18, 2009. Klinkert's argument that the trigger-date is August 5, 2010 is not persuasive. Klinkert's correspondence on August 5, 2010 addressed two subjects: (1) it restated Klinkert's prior complaint that the exemption log provided in November 2009 was inadequate, and (2) it requested documents with Deputy

² The following actions shall be commenced within three years: . . .

^{(6) . . .} an action upon a statute for penalty or forfeiture, where an action is given to the party aggrieved, or to such party and the state, except when the statute imposing it prescribed a different limitation . . . (emphasis added).

Schene's handwriting on them that "related to the 11/29/08 incident in King County." CP 87-97. Neither "triggered" a new time limit to challenge CJTC's claim of exemption on November 18, 2009.

CJTC claimed the exemption on November 18, 2009. CJTC did not provide a different exemption log in August 2010 in response to this complaint. The statute of limitations for a cause of action for improper claim of exemption was triggered on November 18, 2009.

With respect to Klinkert's request on August 5, 2010 for documents with Deputy Schene's handwriting on them "related to the 11/29/08 incident in King County," CJTC responded the same day, "We have no records responsive to that specific request." CP 101. Klinkert's first amended complaint alleged that this response was "almost certainly false." CP 60. If Klinkert had reason to believe that CJTC "lied" when it responded that it had no records responsive to Klinkert's records request of August 5, 2010, his cause of action arose on August 5, 2010.

RCW 42.56.550(6) is silent on the time limitation for a PRA action to challenge an agency's claim that it has no responsive records. In *Bartz*, the agency disclosed documents to the records requestor. *Bartz v. Dep't of Corrections*, 173 Wn. App. at 739. The plaintiff sued and alleged that the agency responded in bad faith because it had more responsive records. *Id.* at 532. The court held that the one year time limit provided for in

RCW 42.56.550(6) applied to the claim even though the statute did not specifically address the time limit for an action challenging a single production of records. *Id.* at 536. The court held that applying a different statute of limitations for different PRA actions would result in absurd consequences that could not have been intended by the legislature. *Id.* at 537.

RCW 42.56.550(6) is also silent on when a cause of action arises where the public agency asserts it has no responsive records. This court should follow *Bartz* and hold that the PRA's one-year time limit applies to challenges to an agency's assertion that it has no responsive records. Applying different statutes of limitation for different PRA actions results in absurd consequences. *Bartz*, 173 Wn. App. at 537, This is especially true in Klinkert's case.

Klinkert admits that he received records from King County on November 25, 2009 that could "prove" that CJTC *did* have responsive records. CP 60. If Klinkert's claims are true, Klinkert was aware on August 5, 2010 that he had a cause of action. There was no reason to give Klinkert three years to file an action when all other PRA actions must be commenced in one year. RCW 42.56.550(6). Klinkert had one year from August 5, 2010, to challenge CJTC's assertion that it had no responsive records. Klinkert's claim was untimely and properly dismissed.

V. CONCLUSION

Klinkert filed his PRA lawsuit well after the statute of limitations expired and the trial court properly dismissed it. This Court should affirm.